

Research Article Assessment Form

ID Manuscript : 711/Ar/X/JNI/2025

Title: Propofol and Dexmedetomidine Potentially Maintain Bispectrality Index, Mean Arterial Pressure, and Blood Gas Analysis in Patients with Intracranial Tumor Removal Surgery

No	Study Items	Reviewer Suggestions
1	Are the systematics and writing format in accordance with (IMRAD) guidelines?	Yes
2	Is the use of English good and correct?	Good & correct
3	Is the title concise enough and can clearly describe the content of the article?	Yes it is.
4	Is the abstract concise enough, proportional, IMRAD (Introduction, Method, Results, and Discussion), and able to describe the content of the article clearly?	Yes.
5	Does the introduction clearly outline the problem, scope and objectives of the research?	Yes it does.
6	Have the work procedures been written clearly so that the experiment can be repeated and pay attention to ethical aspects??	Yes.
7	Are the statistical methods/statistical tests used clear, detailed and appropriate?	Yes
8	Are the results arranged in detail in the form of tables or figures, and provided with information that is easy to understand?	Yes
9	In the discussion section, it can be seen that there is a connection between the results obtained and the basic concepts and/or hypotheses?	Yes.
10	Is the conclusion presented briefly and clearly?	Yes.

No	Decision	Check (v)
1	Articles can be loaded without changes	✓
2	Articles can be published with improvements (please write an outline of the revisions on a blank sheet)	
3	Articles can be considered for submission to international journals	
4	Article could not be loaded	

Suggestions:

Good

Propofol and Dexmedetomidine Potentially Maintain Bispectrality Index, Mean Arterial Pressure, and Blood Gas Analysis in Patients with Intracranial Tumor Removal Surgery

Abstract

Background and Objective: Brain tumors have a high morbidity and mortality rate in Indonesia. Anesthesia for brain tumor removal surgery has a high risk of postoperative complications such as hypotension, bleeding and intracranial infection. Propofol and dexmedetomidine are often used as anesthetic agents in neurosurgery that affect hemodynamics, depth of anesthesia and blood gas analysis. This study aims to determine the comparative effectiveness of propofol compared to dexmedetomidine on Bispectrality Index (BIS), mean arterial pressure (MAP), and blood gas analysis (BGA) in patients undergoing intracranial tumor removal surgery.

Subject and Method: This study is an unpaired numerical comparative analytical observational study. A total of 42 participants who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were randomly assigned into 2 groups, namely the propofol and dexmedetomidine groups. Furthermore, an assessment of mean arterial pressure, BIS, and BGA was carried out.

Results: Based on statistical tests using the unpaired T test, it was found that intraoperative MAP was significantly different between the two groups ($p < 0.05$), where dexmedetomidine had a more stable MAP. While in BIS and BGA there was no significant difference in the two groups ($p > 0.05$) statistically using the Mann Whitney test.

Conclusion: Dexmedetomidine has an effect that is not much different compared to propofol in maintaining changes in MAP, BIS and BGA in patients with intracranial tumor removal surgery.

Keywords: Propofol, Dexmedetomidine, Intracranial Tumor Removal Surgery, Bispectrality Index, Mean Arterial Pressure, Blood Gas Analysis.

Introduction

Propofol is an anaesthetic agent that is often used in neuro-anaesthetic procedures. Propofol has a rapid induction and can reduce ischemic brain damage. In addition, propofol does not increase intracranial pressure (ICP) and has a neuroprotective effect. Propofol also has a sedative effect that is useful in handling traumatic cases because of its relatively rapid onset and offset of action, thus facilitating neurological evaluation.¹ In addition to the use of propofol, another anesthetic agent that can be used in general anesthesia procedures is dexmedetomidine.

Dexmedetomidine is a sedative and analgesic agent from the selective α_2 -adrenergic receptor (α_2 -AR) agonist group that acts as anxiolysis, perioperative sympatholytic and has a cardiovascular stabilization effect. The hypnotic effect caused by this agent is like natural sleep (Non-Rapid Eye Movement/NREM) so that it can maintain cognitive and immunological functions. In addition, this agent has the advantage of adequate sedation without causing respiratory depression and with a wide safety margin.²

Brain tumors have a high incidence, according to statistics from the Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United State (CBTRUS) in 2011-2015, the highest number is occupied by meningioma from all cases of brain tumors, which is around 37%, and women have twice the prevalence than men.³ Diagnosis of brain tumors can be confirmed by imaging through Head Computed Tomography (CT) scans or Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). However, CT scans have limitations and are a challenge when imaging the posterior fossa of the brain.⁴ Patients undergoing neurosurgical operations can pose many challenges to anesthesiologists because neurosurgical events are common in all walks of life. Neurosurgical operations include cases of trauma, vascular disorders and tumors.⁵ Mortality and morbidity of brain tumors are quite high, although the occurrence is very rare, but this is a serious health problem. Glioma ranks first in the type of brain tumor in adult patients; its prevalence is around 80% of all malignant brain tumors and 30% of all brain tumors. Although in the last few decades there has been treatment and diagnosis of brain tumors, it has not shown an increase in the 5-year survival rate <5% in cases of severe glioblastoma.^{3,5,6}

Previously, many publications have reported cases of postoperative death occurring immediately after anesthesia and central nervous system surgery. These deaths can be prevented with special care after surgery. Recovery from anesthesia for neurosurgical patients is a life-threatening condition. A study stated that 24% of 18,473 patients experienced complications that occurred during recovery from anesthesia. The process of patient adaptation after neurosurgical procedures is counted from the time the operation is completed, monitoring in the resuscitation room, and close observation in the intensive care unit (ICU).^{7,8}

Nowadays, there are more discoveries of general anesthetic pharmacotherapy with different modes of action and chemical characteristics. Since its introduction in 1986, Propofol has been increasingly used in anesthesia induction and sedation in neuro-intensive care with a protective effect on brain cells. The potential of dexmedetomidine as an α_2 -adrenergic receptor agonist in anesthesia has been widely recognized. The time to extubating in patients who have been given dexmedetomidine is also known to be short. The structure of each general anesthetic agent will affect the duration of action and the patient's ability to adapt, especially in the respiratory system.⁷

In 2022, a study was conducted using propofol and dexmedetomidine in craniotomy patients, showed that the administration of Dexmedetomidine was effective in maintaining stress responses in the form of decreased random blood sugar (RBS) in emergency craniotomy patients compared to propofol. However, the hemodynamic values in the administration of

Commented [A1]: writing the citation of the numbers above

Commented [A2R1]: Yes, we revised all the citations.

Commented [A3]: do not use people's names

Commented [A4R3]: In 2022, a study was conducted using propofol...

Commented [A5R3]: All those that include the author's name, we have replaced with citations.

Commented [A6R3]: We have revised all suggestions from reviewers by marking them in yellow.

dexmedetomidine and propofol did not have significant differences.⁸ Other studies have shown that propofol was comparable to dexmedetomidine as a maintenance anesthetic agent and could produce better control of BIS values and hemodynamic variables.

Method

Study design and setting

This study is an unpaired numerical comparative analytical observational study. The sample used in this study were all patients undergoing intracranial tumor removal with general anesthesia at Zainoel Abidin Hospital (ZAH) who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria of this study were patients who underwent neurosurgery tumor removal with Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) ≥ 9 , patients aged 18-60 years, American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA) criteria 2-3, and patients without heart disorders (Congestive heart failure (CHF), ST elevated myocardial infarct (STEMI), Valve disorders, and congenital disorders). The exclusion criteria were patients with pregnancy, patients using vasopressors reaching 0.5 mcg/kg.BW, MAP <50 mmHg or >150 mmHg, patients with stroke problems, and patients with lung problems (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), and Asthma). Patients who experienced allergic reactions and drug side effects, and patients who experienced bleeding $>2,000$ cc at the time of treatment were dropped out of this study.

Study subjects

The study subjects used were 42 patients who would be divided into 2 groups, namely the propofol group and the dexmedetomidine group. In each group, MAP, BIS, and BGA were assessed. Furthermore, the results of the examination will be compared and analyzed using statistical analysis.

Data analysis

Statistical test processing determines the comparison of the effectiveness of each treatment group on MAP, BIS, and BGA uses an unpaired t-test on the data that was normally distributed, in the data is not normally distributed then the Mann Whitney test was used. The decision making of this data analysis is based on the p-value, for data that has a p value < 0.05 , it is stated as significant.

Ethical approval

The study protocol of this study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Health Research, Dr Zainoel Abidin Hospital (Approval No.: 035 / ETIK-RSUDZA / 2023).

Results

This study involved 42 study subjects that met the inclusion criteria. No data was excluded. The overall characteristics of the study subjects are presented in table 1. The overall characteristics of the study subjects presented in table 1 did not have significant differences (p-value > 0.05). Male gender dominated both the propofol group and the dexmedetomidine group. The sample was aged 18-30 years, there were 2 people (9.5%) in both groups, aged 31-45-year 8 people (38.1%) in the propofol group, as many as 9 people (42.9%) in the dexmedetomidine group, at the age of 46-90 there were 11 (52.4%) in the propofol group and 10 (47.6%) in the dexmedetomidine group. Based on the duration of surgery, the median in the propofol and dexmedetomidine groups was 262 minutes and 275 minutes respectively in each research group.

In addition, the total bleeding was also not much different between the two groups, namely with a median of 720 ml and 750 ml respectively.

Table 1. Characteristics of research subjects (n=42)

Variables	Propofol		Dexmedetomidine		p-value
	n	%	N	%	
Sex					0.50
Male	11	52.4	12	57.1	
Female	10	47.6	9	42.9	
Age (Years)					
18-30	2	9.5	2	9.5	
31-45	8	38.1	9	42.9	
46-60	11	52.4	10	47.6	
Duration of anesthesia (minute)	262	83	275	62	0.59
Total Bleeding (ml)	720	375	750	260	0.56

In table 2, the administration of propofol to brain tumor patients has the effect of changing the BIS value, namely with a mean of 49 and MAP with an average of 81.1 ± 6.5 mmHg. Furthermore, table 2 shows that the administration of dexmedetomidine to brain tumor patients has the effect of changing the BIS and MAP values, respectively, with a mean of 47 and 76.5 ± 5.7 mmHg.

Table 2. Average MAP and BIS during intraoperative in both groups

Anesthetic Agent	Variables	Mean $\pm$ SD	Median	Min-Max
Propofol	BIS	48,1	49	45-50
	MAP	81,1 $\pm$ 6,5	79,0	72-100
Dexmedetomidine	BIS	47,3	47	45-50
	MAP	76,5 $\pm$ 5,7	76,0	64-86

Table 2 shows a comparison of the effects of dexmedetomidine and propofol administration on BIS and MAP variables. The table shows that only intraoperative MAP differs significantly between the two groups, where the dexmedetomidine group is lower than the propofol group. While in the BIS variable there is no significant difference between the Dexmedetomidine and Propofol groups at each assessment time.

Table 3 shows that the administration of propofol to brain tumor patients causes changes in BGA to: pH 7.45 (0.004), pCO₂ 34.1 $\pm$ 2.4, HCO₃ 23.3 $\pm$ 2.7, BE 0 (4), pO₂ 121 $\pm$ 24.9. Meanwhile, the changes in BGA when dexmedetomidine is given to brain tumor patients, where the pH is 7.45 (0.005), pCO₂ 33.1 $\pm$ 2.1, HCO₃ 24.7 $\pm$ 2.1, BE 0(3), pO₂ 111 $\pm$ 35. Table 4 shows the difference in BGA variable values in the propofol and dexmedetomidine groups. Of the four BGA assessments, namely pH, PO₂, PCO₂, HCO and BE, there is no significant difference in both groups, either propofol or dexmedetomidine intraoperatively.

Table 3. Intraoperative BGA in both groups

Anesthetic Agent	Variables	Mean $\pm$ SD	Median	Min-Max
Propofol	pH	7,44 $\pm$ 0,04	7,45	7,37-7,53
	pCO ₂	34,1 $\pm$ 2,4	33,9	27-39
	HCO ₃	23,3 $\pm$ 2,7	22,5	20-30
	BE	(-)0,52 $\pm$ 3,3	0	(-)6-7
	pO ₂	121 $\pm$ 24,9	118	88-186
Dexmedetomidine	pH	7,45	7,45	7,40-7,53
	pCO ₂	33,7 $\pm$ 2,1	33,7	29-39
	HCO ₃	24,5 $\pm$ 2,9	24,3	20-30
	BE	(-)0,38	0	(-)6-4
	pO ₂	111 $\pm$ 35	107	88-183

Table 4. Differences in BGA in both groups

Variable	Propofol	Dexmedetomidine	p-value
pH	7,45(0,04)	7,45(0,05)	0.520
pCO ₂	34,1 $\pm$ 2,4	33,7 $\pm$ 2,1	0.510
HCO ₃	23,3 $\pm$ 2,7	24,5 $\pm$ 2,9	0.210
BE	0(4)	0(3)	0.820
pO ₂	121 $\pm$ 24,9	111 $\pm$ 35	0.370

Normally distributed numeric variables are displayed as mean $\pm$ standard deviation, non-normally distributed numeric variables are displayed as median (interquartile range). The p value > 0.05 is not significantly different.

Discussion

This study compared the effects of two groups of propofol administration with dexmedetomidine in patients undergoing intracranial tumor removal at ZAH. The first group was the group that received propofol. The second group was the group that received dexmedetomidine. Based on table 1, it was found that there was no significant difference in gender between the two test groups. This is in line with research published in 2015, which stated that there was no difference in the demographic status of patients with respect to the treatment group.¹⁰ However, the table 1 also shows that most patients overall were male, which is in accordance with research published in 2020, which stated that malignant brain tumors are more common in men, namely 58%. However, on the other hand, women more often experience benign brain tumors.¹¹ In terms of age, there was also no significant difference in the two groups where the average age of patients was below 45 years in both groups, namely 44.7 years in the propofol group and 43.5 years in the dexmedetomidine group. This is in line with research published in 2015, where both the dexmedetomidine and propofol groups had similar age ranges.¹⁰

Based on table 2, it shows that the BIS in propofol administration has a median value of 49. This is because propofol has hypnotic and sedative effects. A 2021 meta-analysis published in research demonstrated that the closed-loop group reduced propofol doses, thereby reducing

the incidence of intraoperative hypertension, hypotension, and postoperative cognitive dysfunction. The optimal BIS value is 40-60 to maintain anesthesia, with evidence suggesting a greater than 80% reduction in intraoperative awareness.¹² While intraoperative MAP in propofol administration was obtained an average of 81.1 ± 6.5 mmHg. Based on research published in 2018, where propofol administration can suppress hemodynamic responses, especially diastolic only in the early minutes, while there is no difference in MAP and pulse.¹³ Another study also stated that propofol administration reduces the incidence of postoperative hypertension, where postoperative hypertension can increase the risk of postoperative intracranial hemorrhage and cerebral hyperemia.¹⁴ Hemodynamic stability is important for a fast and smooth recovery. In addition, acute hypertension after craniotomy can increase morbidity and mortality by worsening cerebral edema, increasing Intracranial pressure (ICP), or disrupting postoperative hemostatic conditions.¹⁵ BIS on dexmedetomidine administration has a median value of 47. While intraoperative MAP on dexmedetomidine administration obtained an average of 76.5 ± 5.7 mmHg. Based on research published in 2022, where dexmedetomidine has a stable hemodynamic effect.¹⁶ Hemodynamic stability caused by dexmedetomidine is the result of central and peripheral mechanisms. In addition to stable hemodynamics, the administration of dexmedetomidine can also suppress postoperative stress and inflammation and maintain patient immunity.^{17,18}

Based on table 3 shows that BGA on propofol administration causes BGA changes to: pH 7.45 (0.004), pCO₂ 34.1 ± 2.4 , HCO₃ 23.3 ± 2.7 , BE 0 (4), pO₂ 121 ± 24.9 . Changes in BGA in the administration of propofol to brain tumor patients, where pH 7.45 (0.005), pCO₂ 33.1 ± 2.1 , HCO₃ 24.7 ± 2.1 , BE 0 (3), pO₂ 111 ± 35 were obtained. This is because dexmedetomidine is less likely to cause respiratory depression. Even in animal studies, it was found that dexmedetomidine does not have the potential to cause respiratory depression. This is because dexmedetomidine weakens the stress response during surgery due to reduced sympathetic tone mediated by alpha 2. Therefore, respiratory depression is less common in the use of dexmedetomidine.¹⁹

Comparison of the effects of using dexmedetomidine and propofol based on table 4 shows that the BIS value with the use of dexmedetomidine and propofol has an optimal anesthetic effect, where there is no significant difference between the two anesthetic agents in achieving optimal anesthesia levels based on the BIS Index. This is in line with a study where Dexmedetomidine and propofol have optimal effects as anesthetic regimens in maintaining the depth of anesthesia (good response to anesthesia).²⁰ However, research conducted in 2022 stated that the use of dexmedetomidine is better in providing the effect of anesthetic depth, especially in the first 75 minutes of surgery.¹⁶ This is also seen in this study where in post-induction and 30 minutes of surgery, dexmedetomidine BIS tends to be lower and optimal although there is no significant difference between the two groups. The same thing was also stated in studies have shown that dexmedetomidine has a better effect of maintaining the depth of anesthesia than propofol.⁹

In intraoperative MAP there is a significant difference in intraoperative MAP when given dexmedetomidine. This is in line with some research, where dexmedetomidine has a stable hemodynamic effect even during the peak of surgical stress. Therefore, MAP in dexmedetomidine tends to be low which will later accelerate the patient's recovery period. This is because if there is an increase in MAP during the perioperative period, it can cause bleeding or swelling in the surgical area.^{18,19,20} The more stable hemodynamic effect of dexmedetomidine is because it works on highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptors. By activating pre- and postsynaptic α_2 -

table 2.

adrenoceptors in the central nervous system, dexmedetomidine will hyperpolarize noradrenergic neurons, induce inhibitory feedback loops, and reduce the release of norepinephrine, resulting in a sympatholytic effect. Dexmedetomidine has pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic advantages when compared to other similar α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists. The pharmacodynamic advantage has a significantly better affinity ratio than α_2 : α_1 -adrenoceptor, pharmacokinetically Dexmedetomidine has a shorter elimination period.^{17,20}

Comparison of the effect of using dexmedetomidine and propofol on BGA shows that the administration of propofol and dexmedetomidine did not have a significant difference in both groups, both preoperatively and postoperatively, on BGA values (pH, PO₂, PCO₂, HCO₃, and BE). Other studies comparing dexmedetomidine and propofol in neurosurgery are still very limited.^{16,20} The limitation in this study is that we did not adjust the controlled variables in the form of a history of hypertension and the use of anti-hypertension drugs that might affected intraoperative mean arterial pressure. In addition, sedation was not given singly, but with a combination of inhalation gas and opioids.

Conclusion

Dexmedetomidine has an effect that is not much different compared to propofol in maintaining changes in MAP, BIS and BGA in patients with intracranial tumor removal surgery.

References

1. Kulsum K, Syahrul S, Hasballah K, Balqis U. Propofol and *Nigella sativa* L seeds ethanol extract enhance neuroprotection: A histopathological study in rat models with traumatic brain injury. *Indones Biomed J.* 2024; 16(5): 450-8. Doi: <https://doi.org/10.18585/inabj.v16i5.3258>
2. Gupta A, Dwivedi Y, Saxena S, Srivastava U, Mangla S, Mishra S. A randomized control study of dexmedetomidine versus fentanyl as an anesthetic adjuvant in supratentorial craniotomies. *Anaesth Intensive Care.* 2017; 21(3): 306-11.
3. Mulyadi R, Hatta M, Islam AA, Murtala B, Tammase J, Firdaus M, et al. Intratumoral and peritumoral apparent diffusion coefficient and MGMT mRNA expression meningioma histopathological grade. *Indones Biomed J.* 2021; 13(3): 97-105. Doi: <https://doi.org/10.18585/inabj.v13i1.1338>
4. Sidipratomo P, Prija TKS, Murtala B, Purwadianto A, Lawrence GS. Role of postmortem multislice computed tomography scan in close blunt head injury. *Indones Biomed J.* 2014; 6(2): 101-6. Doi: <https://doi.org/10.18585/inabj.v6i2.36>
5. Kulsum K, Suryadi T. Neuro-anesthetic management of craniotomy-surgery in removal tumor multiple meningioma patients: A case report. *Open Access Maced J Med Sci.* 2021;9(C):146–50. Doi:10.3889/oamjms.2021.6371
6. Butterworth J, Mackey D, Wasnick J. Morgan and Mikhail's Clinical Anesthesiology. 6th ed. McGraw-Hill Education; 2018.
7. Coles JP, Leary TS, Monteiro JN, Brazier P, Summors A, Doyle P, et al. Propofol anesthesia for craniotomy: A double-blind comparison of remifentanyl, alfentanil, and fentanyl. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol.* 2000;12(1):15–20. Doi: 10.1097/00008506-200001000-00004
8. Abrar A, Kulsum K, Rahmi R. Effectiveness of dexmedetomidine compared with propofol on hemodynamic changes, stress response and outcome in emergency

- craniotomy patients. Thesis. Universitas Syiah Kuala; 2022.
9. Chattopadhyay U, Mallik S, Ghosh S, Bhattacharya S, Bisai S, Biswas H. Comparison between propofol and dexmedetomidine on depth of anesthesia: A prospective randomized trial. *J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol*. 2014;30(4):550–4. Doi: 10.4103/0970-9185.142857
 10. Roy A, Sarkar S, Chatterjee A, Banerjee A comparative study between dexmedetomidine and propofol for maintaining depth of anesthesia in elective craniotomy: a prospective randomized double blind study. *Int J Res Med Sci*. 2015;3(11):3238–44. Doi:10.18203/2320-6012.IJRMS20151169
 11. Rhun EL, Weller M. Sex-specific aspects of epidemiology, molecular genetics and outcome: primary brain tumours. Gender-dependent outcomes. *ESMO Open*. 2020;5 (Suppl 4):e001034. Doi: 10.1136/esmoopen-2020-001034
 12. Wang D, Song Z, Zhang C, Chen P. Bispectral index monitoring of the clinical effects of propofol closed-loop target-controlled infusion. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2021 Jan 29;100(4):1-7. doi: [10.1097/MD.00000000000023930](https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000000023930)
 13. Gracia CZ, Hanafie A, Nasution AH. Comparison of hemodynamic response between propofol and thiopental as an induction agent in neurosurgery anesthesia at Haji Adam Malik General Hospital Medan-Indonesia. *Bali Med J*. 2018;7(3):717–22. Doi: <https://doi.org/10.15562/bmj.v7i3.1046>
 14. Hung YC, Lee EJ, Chen HY, Ko SW, Shyr MH, Chen TY. Effects of propofol sedation during the early postoperative period in hemorrhagic stroke patients. *Acta Anaesthesiol Taiwanica [Internet]*. 2009;47(3):128–33. Doi:10.1016/S1875-4597(09)60039-4
 15. Tanczos K, Németh M, Molnár Z. The Multimodal Concept of Hemodynamic Stabilization. *Front Public Health*. 2014;2:34:1-4. doi: [10.3389/fpubh.2014.00034](https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00034)
 16. Kumar M, Kumar A, Yadav JBS, Bhardwaj SK, Singh AK. Anesthetic stability of propofol, dexmedetomidine, and isoflurane by Measuring Bispectral Index (BIS) and hemodynamic indices: a comparative study. *Cureus*. 2022;14(5):1–10. Doi: [10.7759/cureus.24930](https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.24930)
 17. Jadhav N, Wasekar N, Wagaskar V, Kondwilkar B, Patil R. Use of dexmedetomidine in patients undergoing craniotomies. *J Clin Diagnostic Res*. 2017;11(1):UC01–8. Doi: [10.7860/JCDR/2017/24002.9235](https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2017/24002.9235)
 18. Wang K, Wu M, Xu J, Wu C, Zhang B, Wang G, et al. Effects of dexmedetomidine on perioperative stress, inflammation, and immune function: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Anaesth* 2019;123(6):777–94. Doi: [10.1016/j.bja.2019.07.027](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.07.027)
 19. Venn RM, Hell J, Grounds RM, George S. Respiratory effects of dexmedetomidine in the surgical patient requiring intensive care. *Crit Care*. 2000;4(5): 302-8. Doi: [10.1186/cc712](https://doi.org/10.1186/cc712)
 20. Kasuya Y, Govinda R, Rauch S, Mascha EJ, Sessler DI, Turan A. The correlation between bispectral index and observational sedation scale in volunteers sedated with dexmedetomidine and propofol. *Anesth Pharmacol*. 2009;109(6):1811–5. Doi: [10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181c04e58](https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181c04e58)

Commented [A7]: We have replaced references no. 12 and 15 with newer ones according to the reviewer's suggestion.